IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

May 8, 2014 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

FILED

70337-4

CHARLES CHAPPELLE, Jr.,

70337-4

No. 70337-4-1

Defendant,

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL GROUNDS; RAP 10.10

٧.

State of Washington,

Plaintiff.

1. OPENIENG STATEMENT

The Superior Court Chief Judge, Kessler denied Mr. Chappelle counsel of choice, three private attorneys were trying to represent him. Judge Kessler's order to deny counsel of choice, and all subsequent motions for substitution of counsel; based on ineffective assistance, barred Mr. Chappelle across the entire proceeding from any counsel other than Mr. Gonzalez. Mr. Chappelle was seriously injured during this proceeding, and that seriously effected his ability to comprehend the trial, and communicate with counsel and to the court. Mr. Chappelle was constantly ignored by Mr. Gonzalez and the courts. Mr. Chappelle attempted once again under a new Judge, the most honorable Hayden, to motion for substitution of counsel, but was denied. Mr. Chappelle's point to Judge Hayden is that he wants to be represented by counsel, but if the court is chaining him to Mr. Gonzalez it is the same as having no counsel. Judge Hayden interpreted that as a motion to go pro se, and arroneously reduced Mr. Chappelle to pro se statuts.

It is amazing that the lower court was set in stone against allowing the substitution of counsel, for a private counsel of choice, but so quickly & willingly reduced, the seriously injured, Mr. Chappelle to Pro Se status, without stand-by counsel.

-1-

Mr. Chappelle was also denied compulsory process, discovery, and forced to proceed in trial unprepared. This criminal proceeding is a mockery of democracy, and the U.S. Justice system. The publics best interest can only be served by reversing Mr. Chappelle's conviction.

Mr. Chappelle will incorporate the relevant facts into the applicable arguments. Mr. Chappelle asks that this Most Honorable gives these pleadings liberal interpretation. <u>Maleng v. Cook</u>, 490 U.S. 488, 493 (1989).

2. ARGUMINYE

A. MR. CHAPPELLE WAS DENIED COUNSEL OF CHOICE

During a post trial Motions hearing on 4/30/13, Judge Hayden explained that "I know he wanted a new attorney, but Judge Kassler, our Chief judge, had already denied him change of counsel previously, it was sent to me for trial, and I told him there would be no new attorney. His only option would be to go pro se, and I asked him if that's what he wanted to do." 4/30/13 RP 10. Mr. Chappelle answered flat out no, that he did want counsel, "The Defendant: NO. I have actually had lawyers that try to take my case. I try to change counsel, and motion to deny -was denied. All my motion to dismiss was denied. All my motions are never heard. Not given a chance to speak." RP 10. Judge Kessler and Judge Hayden jointly violated Mr. Chappelles right to counsel of choice, and forced him to go Pro Se against his will, this is a structural error that requires automatic reversal, for a new trial. UNITED STATES v. CONZALEZ-LOPES, 548 U.S. 140, 149 (2006).

The U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Gonzales-Lopes</u> held that "A trial Court's erroneous deprivation of a oriminal defendant's choice of counsel entitles him to reversal of his conviction. The right to counsel commands not that a trial be fair, but that a particular guarantee of fairness be provided. That fairness being "that the accused be defended by the counsel he believes to be best. <u>Gravford v.</u> <u>Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36, 61." <u>Id</u>.

-2-

It does not matter whether Mr. Gonzalez was ineffective, all that is required is that the courts denied Mr. Chappelle counsel of his choice. This is clearly established by the three separate private counsels being denied from representing Mr. Chappelle, and more importantly by the fact that Judge Kessler order to deny counsel was even carried out by Judge Hayden in his own words "I told him there would be no new attorney." 4/30/13 RP 10.

"Erroneous deprivation of the right to counsel of choice, "with consequences that are necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate, unquestionable qualifies as 'structural error." Sullivan v. Louisianna, 508 U.S. 275, 282.

Conclusion

Mr. Chappelle is entitled to a new trial with counsel of his choice, free from being bullied from the courts to proceed pro se, with no discovery and unprepared for trial.

B. MR. CHAPPELLE WAS DENIED COMPULSORY PROCESS. THE RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE AND RIGHT TO FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE HE WAS NOT GIVEN DISCOVERY UNTIL AFTER TRIAL STARTED AND WAS NOT GIVEN ANY DISCOVERY TOOLS BESIDES THE COURT ALLOWING HIS FAMILY TOWARDS THE END OF TRIAL TO CALL WITNESSES FOR HIM.

Mr. Chappelle has a Substantive Due Process right to develop the facts in his case. The fundamental Due Process right to present Mr. Chappelles version of the facts can only be protected if presented to the jury, so they may decide where the truth lies. This element goes directly to the right to present a defense. <u>State</u> <u>v. Burri</u>, 87 Wn.2d 175, 550 P.2d 507, 513 (1976). The scope of this right covers timely discovery for trial preparation, subpoana power, private investigator, etc. The U.S. Supreme Court has instructed, "whether in the Due Process Clause ... or in the Compulsory Process or confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, the constitution guarantees criminal defendants 'a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.'" <u>Crane v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986).

-3-

The ends of Justice would be defeated if judgments were to be founded on a partial or speculative representation of facts. The guarantee to develop all relevant facts in the adversary system is both fundamental and comprehensive. <u>Taylor</u> <u>V. Illinois</u>, 484 U.S. 400, 108 S.Ct. 646, 653-54 (U.S.Ill.1988). The Courts must safeguard these rights with meticulous care because it can be violated by the actions of the prosecutor as well as the judge. <u>Burri</u> at 513.

These fundamental rights were repeatedly violated by the trial court. The very act of reducing Mr. Chappelle to pro se status violated all of the above mentioned rights, especially, when refusing to give stand-by counsel. <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Kindberger</u>, 13 F.3d 1344; <u>State v. Woods</u>, 143 Wn.2d 561. Defense Counsel Gonzalez abadoned Mr. Chappelles self-defense, defense which is orazy, and then pursued a general denial defense. When Mr. Chappelle was reduced to pro se statuts, trial had already begun. Mr. Chappelle was stuck with this defense, which is functional to no defense. Mr. Chappelle was entitled to assert self-defense once attacked, and was deprived of presenting a defense at all when locked into the general denial path Mr. Gonzalez ineffectively took before leaving trial. Mr. Gonzalez also took all the discovery when he left Mr. Chappelle at trial, and Mr. Chappelle had never been provided discovery before that, and was given partial discovery, during trial. The best attorney could not effectively represent his client under these conditions, let alone, a criminal defendant forced to represent himself.

Mr. Chappelle was deprived of subpoena tools, not given a private investigator, and instead told by the judge that his family was responsible for doing the investigation. "MR. CHAPPELLE: Like I said, right now, like I said, for the record, I don't have any was of calling anybody. I'm incarcerated. They have me where pin codes can be activated where you can call your family and you can call anybody. I don't have any outside line connections. I don't have any way to contact the cutside world." RP 153. Judge Hayden mistakenly believes that the law required no stand-by counsel to be appointed to assist in Mr. Chappelles compulsory process, instead the Judge erroneously believed <u>Farrets</u> and <u>McKaskle</u> held that Mr. Chappelle's family are stand-by counsel:

"THE COURT: Mr. Chappelle, you have family members here and friends here, right? You may certainly give one of them the phone number to contact, the information, and ask them to assist you in getting a hold of this fella. You declined the service of a lawyer so you are on your own. But I have not deprived you of the opportunity to have your family make the contacts.... THE OFFICER: Your Honor, for the record, Officer Fischer from the record instructed both family and Mr. Chappelle that they can't have contact whole they are in court ..." RP 154.

This is a complete denial of Mr. Chappelle's compulsory process, and the Judge admits he is depriving Mr. Chappelle for going pro se, this is bias of the highest degree. This also violates Mr. Chappelle's rights to self-representation. Frantz v. Hazey, No. 05-16024 (9th.Cir.2008).

「「「「「「「「「」」」」

<u>Faretta</u> established a oriminal defendant's right to represent himself, "Provided only that he knowingly and intelligently foregoes his right to counsel and that he is able to willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol." <u>McKaskle</u>, 465 U.S. at 173, 104 S.Ct. 944. Judge Hayden stated he knew

5

MR. Chappelle wanted counsel, and knew he did not know the court rule protocal or rules. Judge Hayden has a duty to not allow Mr. Chappelle to go pro se because he did not know the rules or protocol, this violated Mr. Chappelle's right to present a defense because he does not know how, or how to use his compulsory process, and in this sense was denied these rights.

The correct decision and duty of Judge Hayden, under these circumstances was to either appoint stand-by counsel to uphold the rights discussed above.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Chappelle's fundamental Due process rights were violated and he is entitled to a new trial.