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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED A THOROUGH 
COLLOQUY AND CORRECTLY FOUND THAT 
CHAPPELLE HAD WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO 
COUNSEL AND HAD ASSERTED HIS RIGHT TO 
REPRESENT HIMSELF. 

Chappelle first argues that the trial court erred in finding that 

he had validly waived his right to counsel and asserted his right to 

represent himself. Brief of Appellant at 9-24. This claim is without 

merit. The record demonstrates that Chappelle unequivocally 

asserted the right to represent himself, and that the trial court 

conducted a thorough colloquy to ensure that Chappelle's waiver of 

counsel was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Therefore, this 

Court should affirm. 

A criminal defendant has the constitutional right to represent 

him- or herself at trial. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 

2525,45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 

698, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). To be valid, a defendant's waiver of the 

right to counsel must be made knowingly, voluntarily, and 

intelligently. State v. Modica, 136 Wn. App. 434, 441,149 P.3d 446 

(2006), affd, 164 Wn.2d 83,186 P.3d 1062 (2008). A colloquy on 

the record is the preferred method to determine whether a 

defendant should be allowed to proceed pro se: 

- 10-
1403-23 Chappelle COA 



While there are no steadfast rules for determining 
whether a defendant's waiver of the right to 
assistance of counsel is validly made, the preferred 
procedure for determining the validity of a waiver 
involves the trial court's colloquy with the defendant, 
conducted on the record. This colloquy should 
include a discussion about the seriousness of the 
charge, the possible maximum penalty involved, and 
the existence of technical procedural rules governing 
the presentation of the accused's defense. 

Modica, 136 Wn. App. at 441 . 

The fact that a defendant's waiver of the right to counsel 

occurs after the trial court has denied the defendant's motion for 

substitution of appointed counsel does not render the waiver of 

counsel invalid. State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 376, 816 P.2d 

1 (1991). The decision whether to grant an indigent defendant's 

motion to appoint substitute counsel is a matter within the trial 

court's discretion. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d at 376. When an indigent 

defendant is dissatisfied with court-appointed counsel, but "fails to 

provide the court with legitimate reasons for the assignment of 

substitute counsel, the court may require the defendant either 

continue with current appointed counselor to represent himself." 

kL. Put another way, "[i]f the defendant chooses not to continue 

with appointed counsel, requiring such a defendant to proceed 

pro se does not violate the defendant's constitutional right to be 
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represented by counsel, and may represent a valid waiver of that 

right." ~ In order to ensure that a defendant's waiver of counsel is 

not "capricious" and "to protect trial courts from manipulative 

vacillations by defendants regarding representation," the 

defendant's request to proceed pro se must be unequivocal. ~ 

That is precisely what occurred in this case. 

In this case, Chappelle asked the presiding judge for 

substitute counsel approximately two weeks before trial. When the 

presiding judge asked Chappelle to explain the basis for his motion, 

Chappelle alleged that counsel had not contacted potential defense 

witnesses. RP (10/26/12) 4. When the court asked counsel to 

respond, counsel stated that he had "on numerous occasions 

attempted to contact these witnesses" and that he had "left contact 

information for them." RP (10/26/12) 4. Accordingly, the presiding 

judge properly denied Chappelle's motion for substitute counsel. 

RP (10/26/12) 5. 

The first day of trial proceeded without incident. 

RP (11/8/12). On the second day of trial, however, defense 

counsel informed the trial court that Chappelle wanted to file a 

motion to discharge him or to proceed pro se. RP (11/13/12) 4-5. 

When the trial court initially asked Chappelle to explain, 
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Chappelle's response was largely nonresponsive, although he did 

state at one point that "[w]itnesses on my behalf weren't called in" 

by his attorney. RP (11/13/12) 7-9. The trial court then began 

questioning Chappelle as to whether he wanted to represent 

himself. Chappelle initially said "[n]o," but he also complained that 

he had not had "a chance to speak" in court and that his "motions 

are never heard." RP (11/13/12) 10. At that point, the trial court 

correctly observed that Chappelle's request to proceed pro se was 

equivocal. RP (11/13/12) 10-11. 

The trial court persisted in attempting to ascertain what 

Chappelle wanted to do, and the following exchange ensued. 

THE COURT: Are you asking to represent 
yourself? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You - yes. You want to go 
without counsel? 

THE DEFENDANT: If I have to go with an 
intern, whatever I have to do. I'm trying here. 

THE COURT: A what? 

THE DEFENDANT: If I have to get help, yes, 
I represent myself too. I have been representing 
myself the whole time basically. 
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THE COURT: I wouldn't say [sic] that's still a 
pretty equivocal statement, counsel. Are you 
attempting to discharge -

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: -- Mr. Gonzales, and to 
represent yourself pro se in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You understand that if I allow 
Mr. Gonzales to be discharged, you will be by yourself 
through the entire case representing yourself? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You will be required to follow 
appropriate -

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: And when I make motions [sic] 
and in limine rulings you will be required to abide by 
them. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: This is your uncle here? 
Apparently he is part of your support system. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

RP (11/13/12) 11-12. After briefly involving Chappelle's uncle in 

the inquiry, the colloquy continued as follows. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Yes, sir. I want 
to go forward. I want to go pro se. I do want 
co-counsel. 
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THE COURT: There is no co-counsel. 

THE DEFENDANT: No co-counsel? 

THE COURT: You go pro se, you represent 
yourself. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Well, that's fine. 

THE COURT: You represent yourself, you are 
up here, you make all your own decisions. You have 
no lawyer. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. 

THE COURT: You understand that? You are 
facing a - I'm told that if convicted you will have an 
offender score of a seven. You will have a standard 
range of 43 to 57 months, plus enhancement for the 
deadly weapon. 

THE DEFENDANT: That's fine. I never had a 
deadly weapon. 

THE COURT: Let me finish. So you are 
looking at a range of 55 to 69 months and a $10,000 
fine. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. 

THE COURT: With maximum sentence of 120 
months. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. 

THE COURT: You ever study anything about 
the law? 

THE DEFENDANT: Just incarcerated. 
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THE COURT: You have been incarcerated, 
but never formally studied the law? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Have you ever represented 
yourself in the past? 

THE DEFENDANT: No, I have not. 

THE COURT: Have you ever attempted to 
represent anyone in a court of law? 

THE DEFENDANT: I have not. I have 
attempted but ... 

THE COURT: You know you are charged with 
assault in the second degree, which is a more [sic] 
serious offense, which is also a strike offense? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: I already told you what the 
potential sentences are; do you understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. 

THE COURT: You understand you represent 
yourself? I will not tell you how to try the case or 
involve in any way [sic], give you legal advice? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You are required to follow with 
[sic] the Rules of Evidence. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You are - huh? Why don't you 
tell me what hearsay is. 
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THE DEFENDANT: Hearsay means that 
something that's said by someone else that is not 
proven by evidence. 

THE COURT: Well, not exactly. I suggest you 
do not know the Rules of Evidence. The statement 
made out of court by a person offered for the truth of 
the matter asserted. That can be somebody else. 
Can be your statement. Can be anyone else's 
statement. It's offered for the matter of the truth 
asserted [sic]. Do you know any other Rules of 
Evidence? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: I didn't think so. You 
understand that the Rules of Evidence will govern 
what evidence is admitted, and you must abide by 
those rules, and I will rule on those? Objections by 
counsel, and even though you don't understand the 
Rules of Evidence I will still apply them; do you 
understand that? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You understand the rules of 
criminal procedure? 

THE DEFENDANT: Somewhat but I don't 
know. 

THE COURT: Somewhat. What's a 3.6 
motion? 

THE DEFENDANT: That's evidentiary hearing 
[sic]. 

THE COURT: To do what? 

THE DEFENDANT: To suppress evidence. 
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THE COURT: What's a 3.5? 

THE DEFENDANT: That's a motion - I don't 
know. To dismiss. I'm not sure. 

THE COURT: Anyone put pressure on you to . 
waive right [sic] to counsel? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: Finally, is it your desire to be 
without an attorney in this case? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: You understand we are going to 
immediately start picking a jury? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: There are no continuances. 

THE DEFENDANT: My motion going [sic] to 
go forward, right? 

THE COURT: What? What motions? 

THE DEFENDANT: My motions. 

THE COURT: What motions? 

THE DEFENDANT: Right here. 

RP (11/13/12) 13-18. The trial court then explained to Chappelle 

that although he could file whatever motions he wanted to for the 

record, the court would not entertain arguments related to a lawsuit 

against the police department or other irrelevant topics; rather, the 
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court was concerned only with going forward with the trial. 

RP (11/13/12) 16. The colloquy continued as follows. 

THE COURT: I have already made my rulings 
on pretrial issues. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. That's fine. 

THE COURT: Are you ready to start picking a 
jury? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. Start picking a jury 
today? 

THE COURT: Yeah. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. 

THE COURT: As soon as we have got jurors. 

[ .... ] 

MR. GONZALES [defense counsel]: And, your 
Honor, am I excused? I'm on standby on another 
case, I don't know if you wanted me to ... 

THE COURT: I'm not having standby.4 

MR. GONZALES: So inform 1201 I'm ready 
for my next trial? 

THE COURT: You're ready for your next trial if 
his ultimate decision is unequivocal that he intends to 

4 Although defense counsel used the word "standby" in the previous sentence, 
meaning that he had another case waiting on the trial calendar, the context of the 
entire colloquy demonstrates that the trial court's statement "I'm not having 
standby" meant that the court would not be appointing standby counsel for 
Chappelle and that defense counsel would be excused if Chappelle succeeded in 
waiving his right to counsel. 
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represent himself, and he intends to stick by that 
decision throughout the whole trial and abide by my 
rulings. We are not going to hear anything about your 
claims against the police department and some other 
incidents. 

THE DEFENDANT: No. It's not about 
claiming. I'm going to court for assault two, right? 
That's what I'm charged with? 

THE COURT: That's right. Assault two with -

MS. WORLEY [prosecutor]: Deadly weapon. 

THE COURT: Deadly weapon. 

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Yup. 

THE COURT: I will tell you it is a - you may be 
very bright. You may think you are doing the right 
thing. I would strongly advise against what you are 
doing. I think any judge who heard you would 
strongly advise against what you are doing, but you 
have a constitutional right to do it. And so long as you 
make the unequivocal decision to proceed pro se I am 
required to allow it. Now, is that your decision? 

THE DEFENDANT: That's my decision. 

THE COURT: Mr. Gonzales, you are hereby 
discharged. 

MR. GONZALES: Thank you, your Honor. 

RP (11/13/12) 17-19. 

This record amply demonstrates that Chappelle's waiver of 

counsel was made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. First, 

although there was initially some confusion as to whether 
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Chappelle wanted to represent himself or not, upon further 

questioning by the trial court Chappelle unequivocally stated that he 

wanted to proceed without a lawyer. During the ensuing colloquy, 

the trial court explained the seriousness of the charge, the possible 

penalties for the charge and the enhancement, and the existence of 

technical procedural rules that Chappelle would be expected to 

follow. In addition, the trial court explained in no uncertain terms 

that there would be no "co-counsel" to assist Chappelle, that there 

would be no continuances, and that Chappelle would be expected 

to be ready to pick a jury as soon as a sufficient number of jurors 

were available. Chappelle stated unequivocally that he understood 

all of these things, and that he still wished to discharge his 

appointed counsel and proceed pro se. Indeed, as the trial court 

observed, it likely would have been reversible error if the trial court 

had not allowed Chappelle to represent himself given this record. 

RP (4/30/13) 11. 

Nonetheless, Chappelle argues that his waiver of counsel 

was not valid because the trial court "ignored" his request for 

substitute counsel, and because the trial court did not adequately 

inform him of the dangers of self-representation. Brief of Appellant 

at 17-23. These arguments are without merit. First, the record 
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demonstrates that Chappelle did not provide either the presiding 

court or the trial court with any valid basis to appoint substitute 

counsel. Rather, Chappelle's issues with appointed counsel 

amounted to complaints about trial strategy, and matters of trial 

strategy "must rest in the attorney's judgment," not the defendant's. 

State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 606, 132 P.3d 80 (2006) (quoting 

State v. Piche, 71 Wn.2d 583,590,430 P.2d 522 (1967)) . In 

addition, given that the trial had already begun when Chappelle 

moved to discharge counsel in the trial court, a request for 

substitute counsel was not timely and would be properly denied on 

that basis as well. See State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668,736,940 

P.2d 1239 (1997) (trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying 

a motion to substitute counsel after the trial proceedings had 

commenced). 

Furthermore, in addition to informing Chappelle of the 

charge and the enhancement that he was facing and the penalties 

for each, the trial court further explained that there were rules that 

he would be expected to follow even though he did not know them, 

that he would not receive any legal assistance from the court, that 

he would not have "co-counsel," and that self-representation was a 

very bad idea. In short, the trial court's colloquy was more than 
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adequate to inform Chappelle of the dangers of self-representation 

and to establish that Chappelle had validly waived his right to 

counsel and asserted his right of self-representation in spite of 

those dangers. 

Lastly, Chappelle suggests that what transpired after he 

waived the right to counsel renders the waiver invalid. More 

specifically, Chappelle points to his later renewed request for 

substitute counsel and some remarks from a courtroom spectator 

as calling his waiver into question. Brief of Appellant at 15-16; 

RP (11/13/12) 23-25. But as the trial court stated when these 

issues arose, Chappelle had already waived the right to counsel, 

and requesting substitute counsel "as the jury is proceeding [into] 

the courtroom" is plainly untimely. RP (11/13/12) 26-27. 

In sum, the record demonstrates that Chappelle made an 

unequivocal request to discharge his appointed attorney and to 

represent himself, and the ensuing colloquy by the trial court 

established that Chappelle's waiver of counsel was made 

knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. This Court should reject 

Chappelle's arguments to the contrary, and affirm. 
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2. BOTH CHAPPELLE'S FORMER ATTORNEY 
AND THE TRIAL PROSECUTOR PROVIDED 
CHAPPELLE WITH THE MATERIALS HE 
NEEDED TO REPRESENT HIMSELF AT TRIAL. 

Chappelle next argues that he was not provided with the 

materials he needed to represent himself at trial. Brief of Appellant, 

at 24-30. This claim should be rejected. Chappelle was provided 

with a redacted copy of discovery well in advance of trial and, once 

the trial had begun, the trial prosecutor copied and provided 

Chappelle with all of the witness interview transcripts, police 

reports, medical records, and other documents from her file. The 

record demonstrates that Chappelle made effective use of these 

materials in presenting his defense, and the record further 

demonstrates that Chappelle's repeated complaints to the trial court 

that he did not have discovery were unfounded. This Court should 

affirm. 

An incarcerated pro se defendant has "a right of reasonable 

access to state-provided resources that will enable him to prepare a 

meaningful pro se defense." State v. Silva, 107 Wn. App. 605, 622, 

27 P.3d 663 (2001). However, what constitutes "reasonable 

access" must be decided on a case-by-case basis in the discretion 

of the trial court: 
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What measures are necessary or appropriate to 
constitute reasonable access lies within the sound 
discretion of the trial court after consideration of all 
the circumstances, including, but not limited to, the 
nature of the charge, the complexity of the issues 
involved, the need for investigative services, the 
orderly administration of justice, the fair allocation of 
judicial resources (i.e ., an accused is not entitled to 
greater resources than he would otherwise receive if 
he were represented by appointed counsel), 
legitimate safety and security concerns, and the 
conduct of the accused. 

kL. at 622-23 (footnotes omitted). In Silva, for example, the 

defendant (who, unlike Chappelle, moved to proceed pro se early in 

the pretrial proceedings) was provided with a redacted copy of 

discovery,5 access to basic legal materials, copying and postage, 

notary and subpoena services, and an opportunity to interview 

witnesses. kL. at 623-25. This Court found that these resources 

were reasonable for an incarcerated defendant who had exercised 

the right to represent himself well in advance of trial. 

In this case, however, Chappelle did not decide to exercise 

the right of self-representation until the second day of trial, just 

before jury selection. RP (11/13/12) 4-5, 11-20. The trial court 

explicitly warned Chappelle that there would be no continuances, 

and that Chappelle would be expected to begin selecting a jury as 

5 The witnesses' addresses and telephone numbers were redacted, as was true 
in this case as well. Silva, 107 Wn. App. at 668. 
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soon as there were enough jurors available. RP (11/13/12) 16-17. 

Nonetheless, the record shows that Chappelle was provided with a 

redacted copy of discovery two months before the trial started. 

RP (4/30/13) 13. In addition, when Chappelle stated that he did not 

have the discovery materials, the trial was recessed early at the 

trial prosecutor's request so that she could ensure that Chappelle 

was provided with those materials. RP (11/13/12) 46-50. This 

occurred the same day that Chappelle discharged his lawyer, 

before the State's first witness was cross-examined. RP (11/13/12) 

46-51. The record also shows that Chappelle had copies of the 

transcripts of the witness interviews that were conducted by his 

former attorney's investigator, and that Chappelle used those 

transcripts to cross-examine the State's witnesses. See, e.g., 

RP (11/14/12) 47-48,77-80; RP (11/15/12) 76-81,97-102. 

Nevertheless, Chappelle continued to claim that he had not 

been given discovery, both during and after trial. RP (11/15/12) 5; 

RP (4/30/13) 21 .6 The record shows otherwise. The trial 

prosecutor ensured that Chappelle had received discovery from his 

6 During his testimony at the hearing regarding his motion for a new trial , 
Chappelle claimed that he was "never given" discovery. RP (4/30/13) 21 . 
This testimony contradicts the record, as demonstrated during the prosecutor's 
cross-examination. RP (4/30/13) 22. 
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former attorney, she provided duplicate copies of all of the 

police reports from her own file, and she provided copies of the 

victim's medical records and the DNA report well before those 

expert witnesses testified. RP (11/15/12) 5-14. Chappelle 

cross-examined every witness that the State called. RP (11/14/12) 

30-38,47-50,71-87, 102-05; RP (11/15/12) 33-35,50-54,76-82, 

97 -112, 132-36, 148-50; RP (11/19/12) 18-24, 30-34, 52-59. 

Chappelle also called a defense witness, Leonard Kelly, and 

exercised his own right to testify. RP (11/19/12) 65-109. 

In sum, in light of the fact that Chappelle did not decide to 

represent himself until the second day of trial, Chappelle was 

provided with the materials that were reasonably necessary to 

conduct his defense. Specifically, he was provided with all of the 

discovery materials, and, because his former attorney had already 

conducted an investigation, Chappelle had the transcripts from the 

defense interviews of the State's witnesses. Chappelle conducted 

competent cross-examinations of all of the State's witnesses, and 

he presented a defense case. Ultimately, although the jury found 

Chappelle guilty of second-degree assault as charged, the jury 

rejected the deadly weapon enhancement; thus, Chappelle's pro se 
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defense was partially successful. Chappelle's claim is without 

merit. 

Nonetheless, Chappelle argues that he was not provided 

with discovery in a timely manner, that he was not provided with 

legal materials, that he was not appointed standby counselor an 

investigator, and thus, that he was deprived of his right to present a 

meaningful pro se defense. Brief of Appellant at 25-30. But these 

issues primarily stem from the fact that Chappelle discharged his 

attorney on the second day of trial rather than well in advance of 

trial, as was the case in Silva. 

Chappelle was provided discovery in as timely a manner as 

possible given the circumstances. Moreover, the trial court 

specifically warned Chappelle that he was putting himself at a great 

disadvantage by discharging his attorney after trial had already 

begun, but that the trial would be moving forward in any event. 

RP (11/13/12) 11-20. Chappelle chose to discharge his attorney in 

spite of those warnings. RP (11/13/12) 11-20. Furthermore, there 

is no right to standby counsel. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d at 379. In 

addition, there was no need to appoint an investigator because an 

investigation had already been conducted by Chappelle's former 

attorney. 
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In sum, Chappelle was provided with the resources that 

were reasonably necessary to conduct his defense, particularly in 

light of the fact that he decided to waive his right to counsel and to 

represent himself after the trial had already begun. This Court 

should reject Chappelle's claim, and affirm. 

3. THE ATTORNEY WHO REPRESENTED 
CHAPPELLE IN MAKING A MOTION FOR A NEW 
TRIAL DID NOT HAVE A CONFLICT OF INTEREST. 

Lastly, Chappelle argues that he was denied his right to 

effective assistance of counsel for purposes of making the motion 

for a new trial because the attorney who represented him for 

purposes of that motion had a conflict of interest. Brief of Appellant 

at 30-38. This claim should also be rejected. The argument that 

Chappelle alleges should have been made on his behalf in support 

of the motion for a new trial- i.e., that Chappelle's original attorney 

was "unethical" because he did not give Chappelle his entire file 

when Chappelle discharged him7 - is completely baseless. 

Accordingly, Chappelle has not shown that the second attorney had 

7 Notably, this is a different basis for an alleged conflict of interest than the 
allegation of ineffective representation that the trial prosecutor brought up at the 
hearing on the motion for a new trial. See RP (4/30/13) 3. 
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a conflict of interest that adversely affected her performance or that 

prejudice resulted from her failure to raise a baseless claim. 

A criminal defendant has the right to be represented by a 

conflict-free attorney. State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 566, 79 

P.3d 432 (2003). To obtain reversal based upon a conflict of 

interest, however, "the defendant bears the burden of proving that 

there was an actual conflict that adversely affected his or her 

lawyer's performance." lil at 572. The mere possibility of a conflict 

will not suffice. lil 

Chappelle's claim of a conflict of interest is premised upon 

RPC 1.16(d), which provides: 

Upon termination of representation, a lawyer 
shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable 
to protect a client's interests, such as giving 
reasonable notice to the client, allowing time for 
employment of other counsel, surrendering papers 
and property to which the client is entitled and 
refunding any advance payment of fee or expense 
that has not been earned or incurred. The lawyer may 
retain papers relating to the client to the extent 
permitted by other law. 

RPC 1.16(d). As support for the proposition that this rule requires 

appointed counsel in a criminal case to give his or her file to a 

defendant who asserts the right to proceed pro se, Chappelle cites 
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In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Eugster, 166 Wn.2d 293, 209 

P.3d 435 (2009). But this case is readily distinguishable. 

In Eugster, the attorney in question was hired by an elderly 

client to assist with contentious estate planning and family law 

issues. In re Eugster, 166 Wn.2d at 301. The client became 

dissatisfied with the attorney's representation, and she hired a 

different attorney to perform the services she needed. l<i at 

302-03. The first attorney not only refused to provide the client file 

to the new attorney, but he also filed a guardianship action against 

his former client, alleging that she was no longer capable of acting 

in her own best interests. l<i at 303-07. Although the guardianship 

action was ultimately dismissed, the client spent $13,500 to defend 

herself and incurred additional expenses because her new attorney 

had to recreate her client file "and attendant estate planning 

documents." l<i at 310. 

Unlike the client file in Eugster, which consisted of the 

client's own estate planning documents, discovery in criminal cases 

does not consist of the defendant's personal papers. Moreover, 

criminal discovery is governed by erR 4.7, which expressly 

provides in pertinent part as follows: 
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Custody of Materials. Any materials furnished to an 
attorney pursuant to these rules shall remain in the 
exclusive custody of the attorney and be used only for 
the purposes of conducting the party's side of the 
case, unless otherwise agreed by the parties or 
ordered by the court, and shall be subject to such 
other terms and conditions as the parties may agree 
or the court may provide. Further, a defense attorney 
shall be permitted to provide a copy of the materials 
to the defendant after making appropriate redactions 
which are approved by the prosecuting authority or 
order of the court. 

CrR 4.7(h)(3) (emphasis supplied). There is no exception to this 

rule for pro se defendants. Furthermore, Chappelle has provided 

no other authority to support his argument that an attorney, once 

discharged, is obligated to turn over his or her entire file to a pro se 

criminal defendant, or that the failure to do so is a valid basis for a 

motion for a new trial. 

In sum, Chappelle alleges a conflict of interest on the basis 

of the second attorney's failure to make an argument that 

contradicts the express terms of the court rule governing discovery 

and for which there is no other supporting authority. Chappelle has 

not met his burden of proving an actual conflict of interest that 

adversely affected the attorney's performance based on the failure 

to raise a frivolous claim. Accordingly, Chappelle is not entitled to a 
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remand to re-litigate the motion for a new trial or the reversal of his 

conviction.8 

D. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should affirm 

Chappelle's conviction for assault in the second degree.